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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The first Baptist Church of Vermillion serves its original function as a house of
worship. It is a two-story building with the north and west facades of Sioux Falls
quartzite and the east and south walls of a local orange color brick. The church
consists of two wings, joined on the north side but detached on the south. The
first, called Lewis Hall, was designed by Wallace L. Dow of Sioux Falls in 1889.

The second wing was designed by Beuttler and Arnold of Sioux City, Iowa, in 1925.
Both the brick and stone used in the latter section match those used in the original
building. The older wing, to the east, was dedicated on May 18, 1890. The north

or Main Street facade is divided into two halves. The east half has an octagonal
turret on the northeast corner and the other corner is rounded. The west half has

a deeply recessed porch and a short tower which was originally the northwest corner
of the building. The porch is approached by a broad flight of stairs and is covered
by a flat roof which is supported in the center by a highly polished granite column.
The stonework on this facade is heavily rusticated and the arches, lintels and
stringcourses are of a sandstone which is slightly darker than the quartzite. The
1intels and the cushion capital of the porch are delicately carved with abstract
foliage designs appropriate to the general Richardsonian Romanesque styling of

the building. Also in keeping with this style, many of the windows have round-headed
arches and the parapets are crenellated. The other facades of the east wing are of
brick with plain double-hung sash windows. The east wall has stone lintels and
sills and a rusticated quartzite basement laid in even courses. The other walls
have brick sills and segmental arches on the windows and rubble quartzite on the
basement. The west wing, of 1925, has rusticated quartzite on the north and west
facades to match the north facade of the east wing. Round-headed windows and
corner turrets with a suggestion of crenellation also repeat the design of the east
wing. The sancturary is 1it on the west side by four large roundheaded windows and
on the east by two matching windows. The south and east facades of this wing are
of brick with no ornamental features.

The 1889 wing was entered by doors at either end of the recessed porch. The west
door, originally the main entrance, opened into a vestibule under the tower, and
has now been permanently closed with the vestibule remodeled as a restroom. The
east door on the porch leads into a small hallway which opens into the two offices,
originally the "reception room" and "Tibrary." The remaining area of this wing was
occupied by the sanctuary which faced to the west. This was surrounded by a bal-
cony on three sides which was supported by slender cast iron columns. The tall
central shaft of space was covered by a coved ceiling. The chancel, on the west
side of the auditorium, housed the choir and the organ. After the addition of the
new sanctuary in 1925 a floor was constructed across the balcony and the chancel
arch was walled in on each floor. The original cast iron supports and the coved
ceiling remain; the only major loss has been the removal of the stairway to the
balcony which was on the south west corner of the room.

The sanctuary of 1925 is joined to the 1889 wing by a stairhall and vestibule. The

auditorium has a balcony over the entrance and a central aisle with straight pews on
each side which face a raised platform supporting the lecturn and pulpit. Above and
behind this is a recessed choir loft and the organ. The organ is of special note.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The First Baptist Church is significant in the area of architecture, settlement and
religion. The congregation is one of the oldest in South Dakota and its foundation
was of major importance to the early history of Vermillion. The architecture is
significant because of the architect of the original wing, Wallace LeRoy Dow. Dow
was the major practicing architect in the Dakota Territory, and received many of
the public, educational and residential commissions. This design is one of the few
church designs known by Dow and is of the same period of his Minnehaha County Court-
house in Sioux Falls, the most prominant Richardsonian Romanesque building in the
Dakotas. A photograph of a perspective view of this church, in the possession of
the Siouxland Heritage Museums in Sioux Falls, shows that the 1889-90 building was
intended to serve as a wing for a larger church. The perspective view, signed and
dated 1890, shows what appears to be a large Akron Plan church with a corner tower
of over 100 feet. This proposed church was to stand where the present 1925 addition
was built. If it had been an Akron Plan, as it appears, the design of the Lewis
Hall auditorium can be understood; this would have functioned as the Sunday School
Hall and would have opened onto the proposed sanctuary with large folding doors
fitted into the chancel arch. The area above and below the balcony would have been
fitted with partition walls to form separate rooms around the central hall for
Sunday School classes, and the existing double hung windows would have been perfectly
suited for this conversion. The wing built by Dow was,therefore, designed for fu-
ture adaptive use, and althoygh the Akron Plan was not followed in 1925, when the
anticipated west wing was finally built, the Dow wing was still well suited for
conversion to church school use.

The significance in the area of Music relates to the Schuelke organ which is now
housed in the 1925 wing. This organ is not only the oldest in South Dakota, but
also deserves recognition because it is such an excellent example of the tonal
character and disposition of late Victorian American organs, and the instrument
remains in its original condition with no additions or modifications to its ranks.
Its tracker action has been recently restored and the hand operated bellows are
still in place and are in working condition.
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